Bethel University

Spark

All Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2022

The Impact of the Pandemic on Social Emotional Learning

Bryan Kilbourne Norman Bethel University

Follow this and additional works at: https://spark.bethel.edu/etd



Part of the Special Education and Teaching Commons

Recommended Citation

Norman, B. K. (2022). The Impact of the Pandemic on Social Emotional Learning [Master's thesis, Bethel University]. Spark Repository. https://spark.bethel.edu/etd/919

This Master's thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Spark. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Spark.

A MASTER'S THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF BETHEL UNIVERSITY

BY

BRYAN K. NORMAN

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF ARTS IN EDUCATION DECEMBER 2022

BETHEL UNIVERSITY

THE IMPACT OF THE PANDEMIC ON SOCIAL EMOTIONAL LEARNING

Bryan K. Norman

December 2022

APPROVED

Thesis Advisor: Dr. Meg Cavalier, Ed. D.

Program Director: Dr. Katie Bonawitz, Ed. D.

Acknowledgements

Ironically, one of the reasons I chose Bethel University was for its significant virtual learning opportunities so I would have less time away from my family. What a blessing it turned out to be, as I received incredible support, patience, prayers, and grace on this journey while balancing life's unpredictability. Thank you to my instructors and support staff, especially Beth Sahli and Meg Cavalier for the encouragement.

Thank you to my family. Thank you mom and dad for always being there for me. Thank you to my two wonderful daughters, Nadia and Zoey, for making me smile when I needed it most, and for being patient with me when I needed a "quick nap" because I stayed up too late doing homework. Most importantly, thank you Nila J. You kept faith in me and encouraged me at every turn, while sacrificing much of our time together as I worked towards this over the last few years. I couldn't have done it without you by my side.

Abstract

The COVID-19 pandemic declared in March of 2020 disrupted the landscape of education and presented students and teachers with unforeseen impacts and obstacles. Notably, negative social and emotional issues arose as these changes drove students into isolation from peers and school staff amid concerns about the health of themselves and the people they love. Social emotional learning (SEL) supports academics, mental health, and healthy relationships (Rosenbalm, 2021). The pandemic caused a decline in each of these areas, as well as an increase in anxiety and depression among students, and limited the ability of educators to support social emotional learning. As anxiety and depression rose alarmingly in students, educators worried about how to support their mental and social health. Teachers had difficulty simply contacting students, regardless of the technological inequities, difficulties, and adaptations they were required to implement without standardized training on an incredibly short notice. As a result, educator morale, efficiency, and passion also waned. Despite these challenges, researchers have provided existing evidence-based solutions as well as general recommendations to implement stronger SEL programming to support students both during this crisis and in the future.

Table of Contents

Signature Page	2
Acknowledgements	3
Abstract	4
Table of Contents	5
Chapter I: Introduction	7
Rationale	7
Definition of Terms	9
Statement of Guiding Question	10
Chapter II: Literature Review	11
Literature Search Procedures	11
SEL Effectiveness.	11
The Pandemic's Impact on Social Emotional Learning	13
Implementation Challenges	13
Student Participation and Performance	15
Educator Challenges	17
SEL in Remote Learning.	18
Educator and Parent Perspectives.	21
Absenteeism	27
SEL-Related Mental Health Concerns	29
Impact on Special Education	30
SEL Opportunities and Recommendations	32

	SEL Benefits During a Pandemic	32
	General Recommendations.	34
	Teacher Support.	35
	Equity	37
	Intervention Strategies.	37
	Specific SEL Programming.	39
	Leadership Recommendations	40
	Organization-Specific Recommendations	45
	SEL in After School Programs.	50
Challe	enging SEL	52
	Research Criticism.	52
	Government Criticism.	54
Chapter III: I	Discussion and Conclusion	56
Sumn	nary of Literature	56
Limit	ations of the Research	59
Impli	cations for Future Research	60
Impli	cations for Professional Application	61
Concl	usion	63
References		64

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Introduction

The week of March 9th, 2020 was one that would change the world forever. News headlines were ablaze with the latest Hollywood scandal, involving Harvey Weinstein and the Me Too Movement, as COVID-19 bubbled below the surface. Rumors were abundant as students asked their teachers concerned questions about schools closing and the health and safety of their loved ones. Educators shared with students what they knew to be transparent and supportive, though most had few facts to share about what was to come. On Friday, March 11, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022b). That same day at school, teachers unknowingly said goodbye to students in person for the last time, as two days later, Minnesota Governor Tim Walz announced that schools would be closing due to the pandemic. While original closure plans were initially created for two weeks, the pandemic escalated, and school buildings remained closed until spring of the following year.

Rationale

Social emotional learning is a necessary component of human development and education. It impacts academic achievement, personal interactions, life skills, mental health, and financial wellness (Rosanbalm, 2021). When schools closed in March of 2020, students experienced an unprecedented change in their lives. While longer-term effects continue to be studied, early research correlates the stressful impact of the

COVID-19 pandemic with negative effects on students' mental health. Rosanbalm (2021) suggests that 14 percent of parents in the United States reported a decline in their children's behavioral health, with 40 percent of parents indicating the same for their quarantined children. Data from the Centers for Disease Control shows a 24-31 percent increase in mental health emergency room visits for school age children from April to October in 2020 compared to the previous year (Rosanbalm, 2021). The dramatic increase in these categories suggests the importance of addressing social emotional learning in the schools during a pandemic in order to best support student success.

Mahoney et al. (2018) found that Social Emotional Learning (SEL) can positively impact emotional regulation, goal attainment, establishing positive relationships, practicing empathy, and responsible decision making. The five key areas of SEL impact are self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision making. Mahoney et al. (2018) further suggests that teaching these skills in schools builds positive internal and external attitudes, which leads to longer-term benefits in behavior, academics, and mental health. Support for SEL in school comes from parents and educators alike. Atwell et. al (2021) found that 99% of parents surveyed deemed "developing good character and integrity and finding happiness" more important to their children's success than getting a job or preparing for college (p. 5). Additionally, Schleicher et al. (2019) found that approximately 80% of educators believed that social emotional learning was critical to success in academics, foundational literacy, and communication skills.

To address these concerns, the following question must be answered: how is social emotional learning impacted by a pandemic? Three components will make up the basis of the answer. First, the change in social emotional learning during a pandemic relative to pre-pandemic must be analyzed. Rosanbalm (2021) suggests that the pandemic has negatively affected students' social emotional learning, which raises the question of what schools must do to improve it. Second, current barriers to social emotional learning in schools must be identified. Zieher et al. (2021) put forward that in order to successfully implement changes in social emotional programming, schools must be prepared to address and overcome potential planning and funding challenges. Finally, opportunities to improve social emotional learning for students need to be explored. Teaching proven social emotional learning skills cannot be effective without a plan to initiate, maintain, and evolve programs to meet the current needs of students. The intent of this literature review is to assess the need for social emotional learning changes as well as to examine how changes can be made.

Definition of Terms

This paper includes important terminology, defined as follows:

Academic achievement: The current level of a student's learning (Minnesota Department of Education, 2022a).

COVID-19: A virus with a wide range of mild to severe symptoms (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022a).

Curriculum: the resources and plans that educators need to present the content to students (Minnesota Department of Education, 2022b).

Distance / Virtual / Remote Learning: The process of acquiring knowledge from a location remote from the teaching source (Zieher, 2021).

Mental health: Ability to reach developmental and emotional milestones, learn healthy social skills and how to cope when there are problems (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022c).

Pandemic: A global outbreak of a disease or illness (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022d)...

Social Emotional Learning: Education concentrating on a broad range of skills to support healthy development and relationships.

Special education: Learning mode for students who have a disability and are in need of specialized instruction (Minnesota Department of Education, 2022c).

Statement of Guiding Question

The guiding research question for this thesis is: how is social emotional learning impacted by a pandemic? Consideration for this research will focus on three factors. First, it is important to consider the changes in social emotional learning due to variables influenced by the pandemic. Second, it is central to identify and understand the current barriers to social emotional learning in schools. Third, it is important to explore opportunities to improve school-led social emotional learning for students.

CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW

Literature Search Procedures

Literature reviewed for this thesis was compiled through the use of two primary databases; ERIC (EBSCO Host) via the Bethel University Library and Google Scholar. Google Scholar articles were cross-references with ERIC to ensure reliability. Search parameters to specify results included only peer-reviewed articles from 2017-2022 found using combinations of the key terms "social emotional learning," "SEL," "well-being," "mental health," "electronic learning," "special education," "COVID-19," and "pandemic." This chapter is structured into the following three categories to review literature on the impact of the pandemic on social emotional learning: social emotional of the pandemic, barriers to social emotional learning, and opportunities to improve social emotional learning.

SEL Effectiveness

As Social Emotional Learning programming in school becomes more prevalent, so do questions regarding its impact. Mahoney et al's (2018) report compares four meta-analyses of significant size to address the question of SEL effectiveness in relation to student outcomes. The combined analyses include reviews of a total of 459 studies of a total of over 400,000 students, with two reviews focusing on the short-term outcomes of and two reviews focusing on the long-term (4-48 months) outcomes of SEL. Each of the four meta-analyses included an assessment of these SEL-related components: SEL skills, attitudes, positive social behaviors, conduct problems, emotional distress, and academic performance.

The four studies shared common themes regarding benefits and challenges of SEL programming in the classroom. Each study illustrated "positive benefits for participating students on a range of behavioral, attitudinal, emotional, and academic outcomes that are evident both immediately after the intervention and during various follow-up periods" (Mahoney et al., 2018). Mahoney et al. (2018) noted that the impacts were less significant in the studies focusing on long-term impacts, but were quick to defend this by stating that most academic outcomes generally plateau over time and that the benefits did continue, albeit reduced. One related key finding is that an 11% gain in achievement was measured in the long-term studies for students who had participated in SEL compared to those who had not. Another key finding was a strong correlation between short-term SEL progress and long-term progress.

Another common theme noted throughout the studies was the importance of well-planned implementation of SEL in schools. For these reasons, Mahoney et al. (2018) suggested that SEL programming yields the best results when "implemented in planned, ongoing, systematic ways from preschool through high school" (p.7, as cited in Berman et al., 2018; Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning, 2017; Jones & Kahn, 2017; Weissberg et al., 2015). They further suggested that based on the quality and quantity of the studies contained in the four meta-analyses, there is "strong support that well implemented SEL programs are beneficial for children and adolescents" (p. 5), and as such, SEL programming and teacher training should be expanded to improve performance in schools. Mahoney et al. (2018) noted that further research should be conducted to determine best practices for specific programming, policies, funding,

implementation, and successful communication between researchers, educators, and politicians in order to make this concept a reality.

The Pandemic's Impact on Social Emotional Learning Implementation Challenges

Social emotional learning is an important focus for students during a pandemic. Zieher et al.'s study (2021) looked at how social emotional learning (SEL) was implemented and utilized by educators during the second half of 2020, when COVID-19 was declared a pandemic. In March of that year, many schools were forced to transition to distance learning due to the outbreak. Zieher et al. (2021) briefly addressed the importance of SEL on academics and behavior while highlighting the importance of implementing quality SEL education within the school setting in order for it to be effective. The goal of the study was threefold: to determine variables impacting difficulty in executing SEL during distance learning as reported by educators, identify relationships connecting the use of SEL practices by students and educators and its implementation, and correlating the emotional burnout, internal rating, implementation challenges, and SEL practice of educators.

Zieher et. al (2021) predicted that an inverse relationship would exist between the difficulty of implementation and a school's ability to prioritize and encourage SEL, as well as self-application of SEL by educators. They hypothesized a direct correlation when comparing SEL instruction and self-application to emphasis on SEL guidance and educator support from leadership. Finally, they predicted an inverse correlation of internal rating and self-implementation by educators when compared to engagement of

leaders. Educators would present mutual relationships of their self-analysis and burnout, as well as burnout and implementation difficulty.

The 219 educators surveyed were dispersed relatively evenly throughout the United States, while the majority were white (67%) and identified as female (91%). Instructional and non-instructional educators were represented equally. Additionally, 65% were employed at elementary schools, with the remainder split between middle and high schools. Educators aged between 24 to 68 and had one to 41 years of experience (Zieher et al., 2021). The primary criteria for selection was being an educator, and participants were gathered through Twitter accounts and a direct email campaign. Quantitative data was obtained through a 63 question Emotion-Focused Educator SEL Survey. The researchers note that the survey was kept intentionally brief to relieve impact on already overstressed educators.

Key findings first indicated that less difficulty implementing SEL through distance learning directly correlated with educator awareness of SEL support from leadership, which aligns with the researchers' hypothesis. Results, secondly, showed that levels of SEL guidance from leadership corresponded with both self-use and successful program execution of SEL by educators. This matched Zieher et al.'s (2021) predictions. Finally, data represented a direct correlation between educators' implementation challenges and emotional burnout. The study indicated that leadership support of SEL practices improved SEL implementation and self practice while reducing challenges and emotional exhaustion.

Student Participation and Performance

Bond's (2020) literature review titled *Social Emotional Learning in a Time of Chaos* also aims to highlight the importance of social-emotional learning for students during the pandemic. The goal of the literature review is to reiterate how student performance is impacted by social-emotional education and to generate dialogue regarding an increased focus on social-emotional learning (SEL) for the future. Bond (2020) uses literature review to summarize SEL's correlation to student learning, importance during the pandemic, and propose a new path for SEL. He states that SEL improves student academics and assists them in meeting their personal needs, that student social interactions are drastically different during remote learning, and that the students most impacted will be those that SEL benefits the most (p. 2). Bond (2020) cites scholarly research suggesting that students who receive SEL instruction show increased academic growth and performance.

He also notes the recent shift in schools' focus to prioritize SEL in tandem with academics and curriculum, even prior to the pandemic. However, his research suggests that concerns for the safety and mental well-being of students are at the top of mind for students, teachers, and parents alike. Bond (2020) suggests that the drive for increased SEL will not only serve students during this stressful time, but will positively impact learning outcomes and better prepare them for uncertain times ahead. For these reasons, he suggests we continue to adapt and increase SEL programming to broaden our views of student success beyond the confined scope of academics and into one of overall student growth and development.

Similarly, a literature review by Huck et al. (2021) sought to better understand the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic has had on education in the United States. Huck et al. (2021) summarized that the literature focused on remote learning during this time as experienced by families and school staff, highlighting the challenges that they faced. Technology was noted as one of these challenges, where a study by RAND corporation showed schools reported that 90% had some students without access to the internet, and 40% cited technology as a hurdle for educators. Approximately 74% of educators noted that student engagement was "much" or "somewhat" lower since the beginning of the pandemic, with almost 25% of their students being "essentially truant" (Huck et al., 2021, p. 54). Finally, morale dropped sharply among students, educators, and administrators at the beginning of the pandemic. Huck et al. (2021) noted that teaching online presented educators with new obstacles; not only the transition to an effective implementation of technology, but continuing to build relationships with students in this environment to support them academically, socially, and emotionally.

Huck et al.'s (2021) research suggested that family communication and technology played a vital role in learning. They found that parent communication with their children and their children's teachers promotes engagement, effort, and academic performance (p. 4). Addressing technological access for continued communication, they state that as of 2021, around 75% of Americans have high-speed internet at home (Huck et al., 2021). However, families who are less educated, have lower income, or are in the racial minority are less likely to both have high-speed internet and the language or technology familiarity to obtain its full benefit as presented by schools (Huck et al., 2021.

Smartphones are more commonly the primary internet channel for these groups, as well as younger families. Related findings show that 64% of parents were concerned about their students' ability to keep up when transitioning to online learning.

Huck et al. (2021) also cited research on the negative impacts of SEL. Their research found that around 90% of high income students were actively participating in online learning, while only 60% of students in low income households were logging in regularly. Huck et al. (2021) noted a common theme that the biggest negative academic impact will be in students who are Black, Hispanic, and in "vulnerable populations." Their research also suggests that online learning makes it more difficult to support students socially and emotionally, primarily because relationship environments shifted and interactions were generally less frequent or personal. They also found that students' study skills, such as time management, self-efficacy, and self-motivation were generally negatively impacted. A recurring theme among students was that they were more frequently distracted at home and unable to engage as effectively.

Educator Challenges

Huck et al. (2021) also note difficulties educators faced. During the initial transition, many teachers reported having difficulty contacting students, especially newer teachers. This challenge was more prevalent among students of color and in lower income homes. Educators reported that they struggled more with lesson planning, assessment, and differentiation. Compared to in-person teaching, educators also reported a "lower sense of success and self-efficacy", and 37% of teachers responded that they needed "significant support" during the transition to online teaching (p. 69). Huck et al.

(2021) suggest that due to the challenges during transition, SEL was not implemented as effectively as it could be in the future.

Overall, Huck et al. (2021) suggest that certain populations face greater challenges during remote learning, though the majority of teachers and students struggled in some way with technology and SEL instruction, which negatively impacted both academics and social emotional well-being. When researching academic achievement, Huck et al.'s (2021) findings were inconclusive. One study showed that schools which did not have physical classrooms and normally practiced online learning had slightly lower scores than traditional in-person schools prior to the pandemic (as cited in Ahn & McEachin, 2017; Gill et al., 2015; Woodworth et al., 2015). Another showed that while grades went up in schools, college readiness declined (as cited in Hart et al., 2019). A third study cited the potential cost-savings and increased teaching quality while at the same time noting a decline in math scores, which also noted that three things greatly improved online learning outcomes: "prior high achievement, self-discipline, and technological support at home and school" (Huck et al., 2021, p. 54, as cited in Heissel, 2016.)

SEL in Remote Learning

In relation to changing learning environments, Duckworth et al.'s (2020) study used student survey data to identify differences in social, emotional, and academic well-being between students who were learning remotely compared to students who were learning in person at school. The 6,576 students surveyed were learning in person in 8th through 11th grade during the pre-pandemic questionnaire in February of 2020 and had

advanced to 9th through 12th grade during the pandemic when surveyed in October of 2020. Approximately two thirds of students had opted for remote learning in October, 2020, which Duckworth et al. (2020) said contributed to isolation. The survey used response scales and yes or no questions that asked students about fitting in, support, moods (happy, sad, relaxed), and perception of class performance.

The results showed that students who were learning in person had more positive responses in each category than those learning remotely based on a 100-point scale, with a social difference of 2.4 percent, an emotional difference of 1.7 percent, and an academic difference of 1.1 percent. Duckworth et al. (2020) pointed out that social and emotional well-being were more significantly impacted than academics and suggested that this was due to being away from teachers and peers. Demographically, ninth graders had the smallest change, which the researchers suggested could be due to the group not attending high school prior to the pandemic and not knowing what they might be missing. Groups were statistically similar across other demographics, such as race, gender, native language, academic performance, and socio-economic factors. Duckworth et al. (2020) noted that though they could not account for all possible external factors, the data suggested that remote learning has a negative impact on social, emotional, and academic well-being, and regardless of how small, would be a significant challenge for students and teachers in the future as the situation was exacerbated by the pandemic.

In like manner, DeArmond et al.'s (2021) study sought to better understand how students' social emotional needs were being met by school districts during the pandemic.

The researchers began monitoring trends in virtual learning environments in 477 school

districts across the country in March of 2020, consisting of over 20,000 students in grades 5-12. They used this data to analyze SEL awareness, instruction, and data tracking in the districts' post pandemic planning. Key findings showed that one third of districts chose SEL as a component of their plans.

DeArmond et al.'s (2021) study suggested the importance of SEL when summarizing the hurdles students face in virtual learning environments. Schools in the survey responded that more than half of students listed depression, stress, and anxiety as factors that negatively impacted mental health. The two biggest subcategories of these plans were creating safe environments and teaching SEL, at 47% and 31% respectively (DeArmond et al., 2021). This gap suggests that schools are more concerned with the overall safety of student environments (such as sickness prevention) than building SEL skills in their students. Despite SEL planning being considered in most districts, only seven percent included district-wide data tracking as part of their plans. Geographically, urban and suburban schools were 8 to 15 percent more likely to address SEL (DeArmond et al., 2021). Common themes across districts arose when asked about their approach to SEL, with advisories or morning meetings being the most popular. Other common tactics included restorative justice initiatives, culturally responsive training and teaching, and trauma informed teaching. The researchers drew a correlation between students' exposure to violence and their need for a safe, consistent, and supportive school setting, in that both can negatively impact student learning.

When considering the link between mental health and SEL, researchers found that only 54% of districts provide mental health support for their students, despite the

suggestion of a higher concern for social and emotional well-being. Additionally, the study found that teachers were about 34% less likely to receive social emotional support from districts than students. The researchers suggest that this may negatively impact students as well, as lack of SEL competence from teachers reduces their student support skills in this area. Overall, the researchers suggest that data management and leadership are two of the biggest obstacles when managing the social-emotional well-being of their students, stating that informative data, strong district-wide direction, and support of teachers are the key components to success.

Educator and Parent Perspectives

A similar study conducted by Atwell et al. (2021) focused on the importance of educator and parent perspectives on SEL and the increased needs for SEL during a pandemic. The goal of the research was to answer the question of whether or not educators and parents definitely approve of social emotional learning as necessary for their students' success. Atwell et al. (2021) hypothesized that both educators and parents would deem SEL an important or essential factor in their students' education, emphasized by the current pandemic.

The research began immediately prior to the pandemic in February 2020, when Hart Research Associates surveyed 1,609 parents and educators in public middle and high schools. It was initially a quantitative survey, but later expanded to include qualitative data based on the pandemic, resulting in a mixed-methods approach. The groups made up equal halves of the respondents. Educators joined an opt-in panel before being pre-screened for qualifications. Data from the National Center for Education

Statistics was applied to a raking methodology to certify the sample accurately portrayed teachers in middle and high schools, which were evenly represented. Of note, 78% of educators identified as white and 63% identified as female (Atwell et al., 2021).

Parents of middle and high school students were also recruited via an online panel and pre-screened. The same methodology was utilized to depict accurate representation of parents with students aged 13-17. Of the parents, 57% identified as white, with 45% male and 55% female respondents (Atwell et al., 2021). Following the survey and in the wake of the pandemic, 36 additional educators and parents were randomly selected via opt-in for an online discussion board in order to gain additional perspective on the impact related events had on families and schools.

The results of both the survey and discussion board confirmed Atwell et al.'s (2021) prediction that educators and parents placed significant value on social emotional learning. For example, over 70% of respondents indicated social emotional learning is "foundational to a student's success later in life" (Atwell et al., 2021, p. 5) of educators responded that SEL would improve a student's good citizenship, along with 85% of parents. This suggests that the benefits extend beyond public schooling and apply to communities as a whole. Demand for increased in-school SEL programming was also indicated by 63% of parents and 70% of educators, with less than 25% of educators stating they had holistic SEL programming within their school (Atwell et al., 2021). The benefits of SEL were also highlighted throughout the survey. The majority of teachers believed that SEL can decrease bullying, help create better student-to-student and student-to-teacher relationships, help students learn, increase student engagement, reduce

absences, and improve the overall atmosphere and community of the school. SEL does not only apply to students; the survey showed almost 75% of educators had lower morale during the pandemic, with 85% acknowledging a general decrease in teacher morale. (Atwell et al., 2021) Based on this data, parents and educators believe SEL can improve engagement, attendance, and academic achievement in all students.

Moreover, a 2020 study conducted by Schleicher et al. sought to better understand the perception that K-12 educators had of emotional well-being and students' ability to learn. This included the following factors: developing "skills, attitudes, literacies and disposition" in their students, SEL and technology, SEL implementation, and challenges related to instruction. Educators, administrators, and support staff from 15 countries comprised the 762 survey respondents, which was created using literature review and an expert panel. Educators taught a variety of subjects, including reading, writing, math, technology, and foreign language in grades K-12. The survey measured SEL factors such as "a person's sense of purpose and meaning, autonomy and control, resilience, and relatedness to others" (p. 2).

Schleicher et al. (2019) suggest that educators must adapt their approach to SEL as technology rapidly advances, as their results described two objectives: a link between academic learning and SEL, and SEL implementation. Key findings that suggest a connection between learning and SEL showed that more than 79% of respondents "believe that positive emotions are very or extremely important for academic success," (p.5) highlighting reading and math, communication skills, and critical thinking skills. Similarly, over three quarters of educators surveyed by Schleicher et al. (2019)

recognized the benefits of "positive, stable relationships, engagement in challenging activities, a feeling of community and belonging" (p. 5). Approximately 97% of those surveyed said their schools currently have plans in place or are formulating plans to support SEL in school.

A common theme was that educators acknowledged that effective SEL must be supported building-wide and requires work outside of school hours. Schliecher et al.'s (2019) analysis of SEL implementation noted that those with more experience in SEL are 22% more likely to have a "formal well-being policy" and 27% more likely to have a "measuring and monitoring strategy" (p. 7). The researchers highlight that gathering data around individual well-being is difficult, and often not standardized across the school or is gathered using ad hoc methods. Additionally, the survey showed that around 77% of participants stated that a teacher's "mood and well-being in the classroom is very or extremely influential on student outcomes" (p. 8) suggesting that SEL is critical for educators to self-apply in order to best support students. Overall, Schelicher et al.'s study suggests that SEL is vital to student success and will be inevitably linked to technological advances in the classroom. They suggest as these capabilities improve, technology can facilitate improved data management and SEL implementation to promote an increase in successful SEL execution, but it requires a formal and descriptive approach.

Focusing on educator challenges, Stacki and their team of researchers' (2021) study combined a literature review with open-ended surveys of seven middle school teachers in New York to gain perspective on the challenges of teaching during the pandemic, with a focus on the social emotional impact it has had on students. The seven

educators in the surveys were contacted via email with a list of 13 questions in April of 2020, when the transition to virtual learning was in its infancy. The researchers highlighted the importance of SEL for middle schoolers, citing studies that suggest that interpersonal relationships between peers and teachers are critical components of their social emotional growth. They showed that enabling students to utilize SEL skills helped them manage sadness and anxiety more effectively.

Stacki et al. (2021) suggested that the pandemic makes SEL more important than ever, as relationships change due to COVID-19, and the related stress and isolation may increase the prevalence of these feelings. The survey found that despite their complete lack of virtual training prior to the pandemic, the teachers were able to prioritize social and emotional components separately from their academic curriculum, primarily through the use of videoconferencing. They used strategies such as class meetings, read-alouds, and book clubs. One teacher wrote that "emotionally, this is affecting students because of disruption to their routine", while another wrote "the feelings of isolation and loneliness are prevalent right now" (p. 152). Most of the teachers utilized class meetings for the dual purpose of academics and community building to address student isolation. Stacki et al. (2021) stated that though some level of success was experienced, the lack of training, consistency, routine, and technological difficulties increased the burden on teachers, suggesting that these components need to be quickly and formally addressed by leadership to improve remote SEL. Finally, they suggested that teachers need to be flexible, be self-motivated, discover new resources, and carefully plan for their SEL to be effective.

While school closures during the pandemic were a major disruptor for families, Egan et al.'s (2021) study aimed to determine the impact these events have had on children's SEL. No formal hypothesis was made, but it can be inferred that the authors believed there to be a negative impact on children's SEL and sought to learn specifics. The data was gathered through mixed-methods. Their survey, which was approved by the institutional ethics board, focuses on COVID-19's impact on children's play, learning, and development. Through newspaper, internet postings, and social media advertisements, parents with young children were invited to participate in a survey. After agreeing, they were prompted with survey specifics and time requirements to complete. A group of 506 parents with children between approximately one and 11 years old responded. Of the parents, 93% identified as mothers, while the children's gender was split evenly between male and female. The average age of the parents was 40 years old, while the children's average age was approximately six and a half. The study specifically selected data for children eight and under to meet their own criteria. The survey included a Likert scale for responses. Researchers analyzed open-ended answers, categorized, and sorted them by themes and sub-themes (Egan et al., 2021).

Since the beginning of the pandemic, data indicated that children had increased levels of social-emotional stress. Nine out of ten parents stated their child missed their friends, school, and playing with classmates. Children between the ages of one and five had much higher scores than ages six to eight for missing school (Egan et al., 2021). Common themes also rose from the qualitative data in Egan et al.'s (2021) survey. Most parents indicated that school routines and structure were missed by children, specifically

noting comments children had made that they had more fun at school and missed social opportunities. Directly correlated to these sentiments were parents' comments about their children feeling lonesome and isolated (Egan et al., 2021). Responses from concerned parents also indicated a connection between these feelings and the social-emotional behavior of the children. Common themes connecting the two included wanting to sleep more, increased attachment to parents and detachment in social interactions, overall sadness, increased agitation and shortened tempers, and academic regression in speech. Egan et. al (2021) noted that although families had varying experiences, the common themes should warrant an increased effort in addressing unique and holistic experiences through social emotions learning support.

Absenteeism

The pandemic has brought about many changes in students' lives, key among these absences from school. The goal of Santibanez et al.'s 2020 study was to highlight the effects that absences can have on student test scores and social-emotional outcomes. The researchers collected and examined administrative data from a group of school districts in California called the CORE Districts, which comprises six districts from Los Angeles, Long Beach, Fresno, Garden Grove, Santa Ana, Sacramento, Oakland, and San Francisco. The data included information on students based on grade level, ethnicity, and free-and-reduced lunch eligibility. Santibanez et. al (2020) used a "fixed effect model" to "isolate the effect of absences on outcomes on each individual student" in order to minimize the impact of unseen variables that may affect these outcomes (p. 5). Due to cited limitations, test score data was analyzed from students in grades 3-8. The model

extrapolates on existing data that correlates increased absences with these negative impacts to predict outcomes for up to 60 days. Categories of the SEL analysis include growth mindset, social awareness, self-efficacy, and self-management.

Santibanez (2020) states that in the population studied, students in grades K-12 missed an average of 7.4 days of school per year. Though this varies by grade level and other demographic factors, the study assumes that when most schools closed nationwide in March of 2020 for safety measures that this number increased as schools managed the crisis. Key findings from the study include lower test scores, decreased social-emotional outcomes, and concern for specific demographics. It showed that overall test scores dropped between 10 to 30 points after 10 days of absence, with more significant declines in math than English Language Arts, as well as a larger decline in middle school compared to elementary school.

Each of the SEL categories also dropped notably as absences increased, with social awareness being impacted the most and growth mindset the least. (p. 8). The study noted that this curve plateaus at around 40 days absent. When broken down by grade levels, the model showed that social-emotional development was most negatively impacted in elementary and middle schools, with self-efficacy, self-management, and social awareness declining the most. At the high school level, social awareness was most impacted. The researchers cited their concern about not only student well-being, but the compounding effect lower SEL has on their academics, citing a previous CORE study that suggests academic and behavioral scores directly correlate to social-emotional outcomes (p. 5).

Also of importance is the higher impact absences have on certain subgroups. They reference a report that showed between March and May of 2020, school participation was lower in students that were categorized as low-income, English Learners, having disabilities, and homeless (p. 7). With this data, Santibanez (2020) suggested that COVID-19 had a deeper impact on various groups of people. The model also showed that test scores in these groups were generally impacted more than students not falling into these categories, with the exception of English Learners math scores. Overall, the study suggests that the increased absences due to the pandemic will result in a continued decline in both test scores and SEL, with a particular concern for disadvantaged students.

SEL-Related Mental Health Concerns

Obstacles brought about by the pandemic affected more than the teaching staff. The goal of Weir's (2020) literature review was to examine the increased need for mental health services in school due to the pandemic. They state anxiety, depression, and other emotional or behavioral issues are found in 20% of children in the United States, but mental health providers only account for one in five receiving care (p. 1). Additionally, a recent study by the CDC showed an increase in major depressive disorder in teens and suicide rates in ages 10-24 over the last decade, even prior to the pandemic (p. 3). The majority of children receive help in schools, if at all, but most schools have very high ratios of students to care providers and little additional funding to add staff to meet these needs.

Wier's research showed experts predicted that additional stressors caused by the pandemic, such as economics, safety, and isolation will result in further increased levels

of mental health challenges in students. She suggests that this will stretch student supports in the 100,000 schools in 14,000 districts nationwide even thinner (p. 3). Weir addresses some potential solutions, including one psychologist's recommendation to incorporate social and emotional intelligence into core curricula like math and language arts. This could be modeled through targeted readings or anxiety management strategies (p. 5). Multi-tiered support systems have shown to be 75% effective at treating or preventing depression in students (Weir, 2020, p. 5, as cited in Arora, et al., 2019), and although these systems are gaining in popularity, many students are still underserviced. She also highlights the work of Weissberg et al. (2021) meta-analysis, which showed an overall improvement in SEL skills and an 11% gain in academic achievement across 213 schools (p. 5). Weir cites one study that shows an increased focus towards academics during the pandemic as SEL support decreased, suggesting that much more needs to be done to change these trends. She suggests that identifying mental health issues remotely is far less effective than in person, further compounding the issue. Overall, Weir suggests that increased focus, funding, and staffing are required to mitigate the potentially significant negative impacts the pandemic will have on students' social and emotional learning.

Impact on Special Education

With a focus on Special Education, the goal of Morando-Rhim et al.'s (2021) study of almost 400 reports, studies, and news articles was to better understand how students with disabilities had been impacted by the pandemic. Of the 400 pieces of literature reviewed, fewer than 20 percent referenced impacts to students with disabilities,

with none of the studies providing categorical data regarding types of disabilities. The researchers noted that more data is required to draw actionable conclusions, but the data collected provided several key findings.

The first is that many students with disabilities had significant disruptions to not only their academic services, but their special education services, and that this represented a lag or regression in progress. Morando-Rhim et al. found that these services were reduced in both quantity and quality due to remote learning and shortened school days, despite many schools prioritizing return to school plans for students with Individual Education Programs (IEP). Their research also found that students with disabilities had more absences, missing work, and failed classes than their peers. One study showed that while 51 percent of students completed most of their work, that number dropped to about 30 percent in students with disabilities, while participation was similarly impacted with 67 percent of students contributing to class but only 53 percent of students with disabilities did the same. Attendance for students with disabilities dropped 12 percent in the year of the pandemic in another study. Morando-Rhim et al. found that teachers and parents were concerned, as 82 percent of teachers responded to one survey that they were not confident in their ability to support IEPs and 44 percent of parents responded that their children's access to valuable and required support had been removed by the transition to remote learning.

The researchers noted that they found very little data to show the social emotional impact the pandemic had on students with disabilities, but drew possible conclusions based on their research. One survey of parents showed 48 percent had higher anxiety and

negative behaviors, and 60 percent said their child was a year behind as a result of the pandemic. Their research showed that elementary age children were most negatively impacted overall and suggested that this was a vital part of social emotional development, so that correlated impacts would occur in SEL. Morando-Rhim et al. further suggested that lower attendance and engagement, combined with higher anxiety and less time in school, would increase the SEL impact on students with disabilities. They also pointed out that many students with disabilities have social emotional support or goals that were not being met due to the circumstances and these students would be impacted more deeply. Overall, while the data specific to impact on social emotional learning in students with disabilities is limited, Morando-Rhim et al. (2021) suggested that based on correlating factors found in studies of all students, the negative impact would be significant.

SEL Opportunities and Recommendations

SEL Benefits During a Pandemic

Rosanbalm's (2020) literature review also sought to answer questions about the importance of SEL during the pandemic and to understand how to implement SEL instruction effectively. Highlighting the importance of SEL to academic achievement, the author cites a study that shows an 11% increase in test scores among students who received SEL support compared to those who did not. Additionally, Rosenbalm's research indicated improvements in "self-esteem, attitudes about school, and positive social behavior" with a "reduction in conduct problems, bullying, delinquency, depression, and anxiety" (p. 3, as cited in Durlak et al., 2011; Smith & Low, 2013).

Students' futures are positively impacted as well, with 6-11% increases in graduation from high school and college, six percent fewer criminal instances, and improved earning potential and job security (p. 3). Economically, Rosenbalm's research states that for each dollar spent on SEL, there is an \$11 benefit to the receiver or economy.

She correlates the significance of SEL during the pandemic to studies that show significantly increased depression in students, increased behavior problems, and increased hospital visits for students related to mental health issues, suggesting that SEL will help mitigate or reduce some of these challenges. Rosenbalm's recommendations for improving SEL include defining SEL support, making the support district-wide, and improving resources to help facilitate growth of SEL programming, such as funding, human capital, data management, and implementation. She further provides resources to improve SEL during virtual learning, such as mobile applications, online calm down spaces, and increased staff development and communication. Overall, Rosenbalm suggests that SEL should be a top priority for schools in order to support students and their futures during a time of increased stressful changes and challenges.

Similarly, the goal of Hamilton et al.'s June 2021 literature review was to review and consider recent research on the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic has had on students' social emotional development and well-being in order to provide recommendations for future research and educational practices. This group of researchers note that the data analyzed was limited as it included mostly students aged 11-18, does not provide insight into the impact on students with disabilities, and "most of the research is based on white, middle-class perspective" (Hamilton et al., 2021, p. 11). More

significant to their inquiry, the researchers suggested data shows a negative impact on mental health, but offer few specifics on social emotional development in students.

For example, between 30-40% of students surveyed during the pandemic cited a decline in mental or social emotional health. Hamilton et al. (2021) cite surveys that showed that 36% of teens were "more concerned than usual about their emotional health" during the pandemic and over 40% noted pandemic-based detriments to their happiness. Conversely, a survey of over 2,000 teens actually showed a reduction in anxiety and depression during the first two months of schools closing. Hamilton et al. (2021) suggested that the positive emotional outcomes were limited and began to decline as the pandemic progressed. The researchers acknowledge that subjective surveys of school staff are the most common data sources, citing studies in which 77% of staff said students were lagging in SEL skills relative to pre-pandemic, 33% of staff were more concerned about social emotional health, over 46% increased the time spent on SEL, and over 60% knew students worried about their social emotional health (Hamilton et al., 2021).

General Recommendations

As a result of their concern over the lack of available data, Hamilton et al. had four primary recommendations. First, they recommended that researchers expand survey focus to include broader demographic and cultural context and opportunities for growth in light of the pandemic. Second, they recommended exploring technologies, training, and funding avenues to improve data and increase SEL support. Third, they advised more collaboration with communities to support parents, families, programming, systems, and policies for more student support. Finally, they recommended better metrics for cultural

climates, school-based relationships, sociocultural context, and SEL well-being for both teachers and students (Hamilton et al., 2021). Overall, Hamilton et al. suggest that the existing data tools limit the quality and breadth of data to provide informed decisions, and significant improvements need to be made to facilitate the quest for meaningful data on the impact of social-emotional health in all students so that schools can respond and support them accordingly.

Teacher Support

During the pandemic all educators faced unique challenges, but Wardrip et al.'s (2021) study chose to focus on how they implemented lessons that traditionally involved hands-on activities (referred to as "maker-based") in a remote learning environment. The goal of the study was to determine how these teachers were assessing remote students. Based on a "values-based perspective on assessment" (p. 952), they sought to determine what teachers valued in their students' learning and how this correlated to their assessments. To narrow the focus of their study, Wardrip et al. focused on three areas: how teachers' based their assessments on these values, how they measured and addressed engagement, and how they planned their lessons and assessments accordingly. While no formal hypothesis was given, Wardrip et al. state that they were aware of the increased challenges during distance learning, especially when translating hands-on activities, and they wanted to better understand how these types of assessments were changing along with learning environments.

The study used field notes, interviews, and student work samples from teachers in a collaborative learning group called Agency by Design Pittsburgh. The group consisted

of 30 teachers, but during this time period, data was gathered from 15 of the teachers, with an average of 12 teachers in attendance at regular online meetings. These teachers had experience with both in-person and remote learning. Six meetings were observed by the researchers during the 2020-2021 school year, in which field notes were collected. Four technology teachers from this group, who worked with students in grades K-5, were selected for a series of 30-60 minute in-depth interviews. Additional demographic information regarding participants was not provided. A total of 31 student work samples were collected from these four teachers to provide additional insight.

Educators in the survey responded with values closely tied to Social Emotional Learning, including "intentionality and resilience, patience, perseverance, experiential learning, collaboration, communication, adaptation, independent curiosity, and emotional and physical well-being" (Wardrip, 2021, p. 956). The teachers stated that although the learning environment shifted from in-person to virtual learning, their values stayed the same; they just needed to rethink their implementation. They also shared experiences in diminished emotional states for students, with one teacher describing her students' mental health as "where they're at is just not great" (p. 956). Most teachers also noted that their values broadened to focus more on increased student happiness and engagement. The implementation of hands-on activities necessarily relied heavily on digital interactions such as Google Classroom and FlipGrid for participation, engagement, and submission. Live online classrooms allowed them to monitor progress, as compared to observing the students in a classroom. Teachers noted some positive outcomes of the online formats; they enabled new ways for students to express themselves, such as using props or accents

that they did not use previously when in person, and that this, in turn, enabled teachers to learn more about students as individuals.

Equity

Another common theme was equity among students in regards to materials available at home, and the cost-prohibitive nature of supplying materials for hands-on activities sent home. This limited assessments and required many teachers to redesign low-cost alternatives. Despite these challenges, the study found that teachers adjusted their various approaches, but continued to implement hands-on assessments that were still rooted in their learning values. Overall, Wardrip et al. (2021) noted that a key finding was a shift in teacher focus (based on their increased concern for student social-emotional well-being) to create and assess students on social-emotional ideas and theories intertwined with their technology and engineering assessments.

Intervention Strategies

A similar study by Kamei et al. (2020) focused on intervention strategies for social emotional learning in remote environments. The goal of the research was to learn more about the benefits of SEL in this setting and best practices for educators. Kamei et al. highlighted the importance of SEL during the pandemic and the related stressors it brings. They narrowed their SEL focus to three primary categories: cognitive regulation, emotional competencies, and social skills.

Evidence from their literature review cited the benefits of SEL on students' ability to learn, succeed academically, solve problems, and manage relationships with others.

Notably, SEL in kindergarten was strongly tied to future well-being (including reduction

in criminal and drug related behaviors), graduation, college attendance, and job outlook. Kamei et al. correlate children in the pandemic to the children that suffered through Hurricane Katrina, in that they are more likely to experience a negative impact on emotional control and academics as well as a stronger likelihood for post-traumatic stress disorder. In both cases, family economics, regular social interactions with peers and educators, and living situations were disrupted; the pandemic compounds this with the fear of COVID-19. Kamei et al. write that SEL is more crucial than ever because virtual learning means students manage all of these factors, in addition to learning technology, managing their learning style online from home, and dealing with both isolation and shared family space.

When researching how to support students, they provided examples for "explicit SEL instruction" and "ongoing teaching practices that are designed to promote SEL" (p.369) in the three primary categories of SEL they defined. Cognitive regulation ideas included instruction for online time management tools, virtual problem sharing and solving, growth mindset videos, readings that illustrate people overcoming hardships, self-monitoring progress, daily affirmations, and digital progress or reflection tools. Emotional regulation ideas included strategies for stress reduction, emotional identification during problem sharing, one to one check-ins, individual class jobs or responsibilities, and positive messages from the teacher about their individual future. Social skills ideas include real-world problem projects, collaborative learning experiences, "get to know you" games, kindness notes, and real-time class recognition or cheers. Overall, Kamei et al. provided this information primarily to educators, as they

suggest that teachers must lead SEL proactively and immediately during times of crisis like the pandemic, and continue to grow in this area to support their students now and in the future.

Specific SEL Programming

More narrowly focused, Li et al.'s (2021) study used 37 randomly selected third grade classrooms across the globe (United States of America, Mexico, China, and Vietnam) to study an SEL program called *Adventures Aboard the S.S. Grin (Adventures)* to determine its effectiveness and draw conclusions on the impact of SEL during the pandemic. Totaling 537 students, 17 classrooms implemented Adventures, 18 remained as a control, and two did not complete the study. Data was collected by researchers using surveys, observations, and interviews. The five SEL pillars of *Adventures* are self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision making. The video and game-based program was selected because of its brevity, ease of training, and ability to enhance existing curriculum. Originally intended as an SEL study beginning in December 2019, the scope expanded as schools transitioned to remote learning in March of 2020. Of the 17 teachers using the program, 14 were able to successfully adapt to online implementation and discussions in order to complete the program remotely. Generally, the teachers were able to use the same implementation with the exception of virtual discussions rather than in-person.

Li et al. suggested that the study is important because it addressed SEL needs during a time of heightened need for students, enabled mostly successful execution despite the transition to virtual learning, and produced positive results on student outcomes. Three primary challenges cited for incompletion by students were "lack of devices, internet, or in-person supervision by their teacher" (p. 9). These challenges suggest both a gap in technological access for all and a stronger need in some students for more traditional support than can be offered in a remote environment. The program itself was correlated to positive results in students' interpersonal strength, communication skills, and social skills when compared to those that did not implement it. The researchers also note that engagement measurements both in class and at home were in the 98th percentile. Overall, Li et al. suggested that *Adventures* is an effective tool, and that engaging, game-based SEL curricula can be successful as long as it allows for simple implementation, limited training, provides engagement to students, and is flexible for use in both at-home and in-person learning.

Leadership Recommendations

Broader recommendations come from Summers' (2020) literature review, which combined research on effective leadership in schools, the changes that schools face, and the importance of SEL during a pandemic to provide recommendations for school leaders to better support their staff. She cited studies highlighting the importance of SEL regardless of the learning environment and is crucial for the success of students and teachers alike. Summers noted another study that showed that stress management, resilience, and optimism are three keys to effective education, and the need for these skills has risen as COVID-19 changed the landscape of education.

Her four primary recommendations for supporting teachers during virtual learning are to build collaboration online, offer choices of varied formats, build relationships on

trust and community, and inspire and enable long-term commitment (p. 35). Summers applied practices found in her research to recommend using breakout rooms, combining online and offline activities, keeping activities around 15 minutes with breaks in between, using messaging applications to enable authentic and informal conversation, creating virtual professional and learning communities for collaboration among teachers, and allowing for flexibility of PLC meeting times to accommodate teachers' schedules.

Overall, she suggested that teachers need to "understand, model, teach, and support" SEL skills for students as they would any other subject, and it is the responsibility of school leaders to both support them and model these behaviors.

Likewise, Ferren's (2021) literature review emphasized the importance of teachers' needs for social emotional support in light of the pandemic. She wrote that since teachers are the primary social emotional instructors or supports, their own social emotional needs must be met. Ferren noted that teacher stress was already an issue prior to the pandemic, as the top five emotions for educators are "frustrated, overwhelmed, stressed, tired, and happy" according to a 2017 survey, and 85% of educators felt their teaching abilities were negatively impacted by work-life balance in a 2018 survey (p. 1). She suggested that these sentiments increased during the pandemic, as almost fifty percent of teachers who left their profession after February of 2020 cited the pandemic as the primary reason; although the majority hadn't considered leaving before the pandemic, twenty-five percent of teachers in an October 2020 survey responded that they planned to leave before the end of the year. Those who left said they were overworked, undertrained in technology, and challenged with virtual learning.

Ferren (2021) found that supporting SEL for educators not only improved the well-being of their students and themselves, but it reduced stress, absences, and turnover among teachers as well. Conversely, if teachers poorly taught SEL, it decreased their students' SEL abilities. Ferren recommended that in order to improve SEL support for educators, they should be included in ongoing discussions about returning to school and which SEL supports are needed, as well as receive continuous professional development for SEL. She also suggested allocating available government funding for increased staff, educator pay raises, in-school SEL programs, and networks for educators. Overall, Ferren suggests that the pandemic has elevated stress and lowered morale among educators, and her recommendations will help to reduce turnover and improve educational experiences for students and staff alike.

Rather than focus on current teacher development, Hill et al. 's (2020) research centered on the needs that prospective educators have based on the changes in education due to the pandemic, with a focus on social emotional learning. The researchers conducting the literature review and proposal are members of the Faculty of Education at Simon Fraser University (SFU) in British Columbia, Canada; they sought to identify adaptations to teacher preparation that would be beneficial following the pandemic. While prospective teachers at SFU were faced with the same challenges inherent to remote learning as K-12 students around the world, Hill et al. found that the most common inquiries were related to their preparedness to handle student social emotional needs that were burgeoning due to the pandemic.

Their research led them to focus on three key changes in their teacher preparation related to social emotional learning. First, they correlated an increase in pandemic-related stressors in students to increased stress in teachers, including secondary trauma being more prevalent. As a result, they recommended increased instruction for educators on managing their own well-being. Second, recognizing an increased need for social emotional learning in schools, they recommended an expanded social emotional learning curriculum for aspiring teachers to be better prepared to meet these needs in their students. Finally, Hill et al.'s (2020) research showed "heightened acknowledgement and respect" for educators as they were deemed essential workers and families worked to manage remote learning. Based on this, they proposed increased leadership training so that teachers cannot only be better recognized and referred to as leaders in the community, but also so they have the proper training to assume this role. A focus of the potential training was on prioritizing mental health in schools to help foster more caring and support in the communities that they steward. Overall, Hill et al. suggest that the decline in the social emotional state of students due to the pandemic requires teachers to improve their own well-being so that they can instruct others to do the same, helping lead communities through collective recovery.

In support of educators now and in the future, Hough et al.'s (2021) research brief addressed concerns about lack of SEL metrics tools by reviewing emotional trends during the pandemic and providing evidence-based instructional strategies to address them.

These researchers used Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs (Hough et al., 2021) (physiological needs, safety needs, love and belonging needs, esteem needs, and self-actualization

needs) as a foundation for determining the degree of increased need for SEL during the pandemic; they cited rising fear, anxiety, bullying, suicides, depression, illness, and abuse in school-age students as factors that negatively impact these basic needs (Hough et al., 2021). Hough et al. suggested that SEL can facilitate students in addressing these needs so that they can better meet the "necessary preconditions for higher-level learning" (Hough et al., 2021, p. 2). They also point out that due to the pandemic, teachers cannot address or monitor student well-being as they could in the past, using school as a foundation for social support - the strength of which correlates with trauma and disruption management (p. 3).

Hough et al. suggested that existing, research-based, free, simple tools and strategies are readily available to teachers, and that these tools are valuable, adaptable, and measurable. The tools listed are the SEL framework by CASEL, the California School Climate Health and Learning Surveys, the CORE Rally Instrument, EdInstruments, and the Copilot-Elevate Survey (Hough et al., 2021). They write that the surveys in these tools can be used to gather valuable data on social-emotional well-being in five to fifteen minutes. Hough et al. stated that this data can then be used to illustrate common trends to focus on when using the tools for specific SEL programming. In order to be effective, the tools should be brief, address equity issues, align with school priorities, inform instructional strategies, and provide anonymity. Despite their effectiveness, Hough et al. cautions educators that stereotype and bias reinforcement can occur if not structured properly. Overall, Hough et al. write that the rising social emotional impact in students exacerbated by the pandemic can be assessed and

approached using existing tools that are evidence-based, easy to use, and free for educators.

Organization-Specific Recommendations

Yoder et al.'s (2020) report conducted in collaboration with CASEL (Collaborative for Academic, Social and Emotional Learning) took a broader approach by analyzing the educational pandemic response plans for 37 states in the U.S. to understand common themes in the nationwide approach and make recommendations for SEL programming during the transition from virtual learning back to a traditional in-school environment. Key findings showed that about 84% of states made SEL a high point of focus while the rest maintained their current prioritization. Requests for additional SEL support from individual districts rose in about 74% of the states that participated.

This suggests a significant increase in expanded SEL support as a direct result of schools' concerns for supporting their students socially and emotionally during the pandemic. The most common approaches states used to address these needs were "addressing mental health needs...(89%); supporting adult SEL and mental health (81%); providing/supporting professional learning of SEL (87%); and engaging SEL strategies within distance learning (73%)" (p. 3). The biggest obstacles encountered by states were staff training, academic focus, and funding. Notably, 38% responded with uncertainty as to how to utilize SEL during virtual learning.

Based on this data, Yoder et al. recommended six strategies for supporting SEL during the transition between the 2020-2021 and 2021-2022 school year: highlighting the importance of SEL for all, descriptive planning of SEL and mental health support,

best-practice sharing, SEL focus in professional learning, utilization of data to improve SEL processes, and obtaining or allocating more funds to support SEL. Overall, the researchers suggested that SEL should continue to improve in order to better support students, and that the proper training, communication, and funding are requisite for ensuring its success.

Also focusing on recommendations for educators, the Education and Society

Program of The Aspen Institute (2020) collaborated with nationwide leaders in a

multitude of various educational roles to make recommendations to state leadership

regarding best practices for supporting social emotional learning in schools in response to
the pandemic. The report outlined 10 actions the state could take to accomplish this,
noting that funding would likely need to be acquired or reallocated to support them.

Though not specific, the report suggested that increased social emotional learning support
is needed by schools due to the negative impact the pandemic has had on students.

The first recommendation was that communication should be more explicit and collaborative within communities through the formation of student councils on COVID-19 policies. The second and third recommendations were to gather data on pandemic-related stressors on students and teachers, respectively, in order to properly formulate a strategic response. The fourth was to improve data collection, and redefine as necessary, what it means for students to be engaged and safe. This suggests that since the learning environment has changed due to the pandemic, engagement and safety have new meanings and methods, and must be approached accordingly. The fifth recommendation was to prioritize social emotional recovery and community over

academic performance, relating closely to the sixth recommendation, which was to cancel required statewide assessments for 2020-2021. This suggests a possible avenue to reduce stress among students.

The seventh recommendation is to restructure roles of educators in order to lessen the increased burden of social emotional support for students through increased staffing and collaboration with government agencies. In light of the drastic changes in environment and teaching methods, the report then suggested increasing flexibility and exploring new approaches to school hours, spending, credit attainment, and data collaboration to facilitate the transitions faced by schools and students. The Aspen Institute's (2020) ninth recommendation was for staff to focus on the most urgent needs of students, rather than prioritizing academics, as the needs would likely be social emotional in nature and therefore critical to address if students are expected to learn. This suggestion is similar to Hough et al. 's (2021) focus on Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs (Hough et al., 2021). Finally, the report recommended that state resources be allocated to increase preparedness for future support, specifically for school response plans and for addressing marginalized student groups such as students with disabilities or English learners. Overall, the report stressed the dramatic change in social emotional support required, and thoroughly highlighted specific areas of focus for states to address during and after the pandemic.

The goal of Bland et. al's (2021) study was to get a detailed understanding of the strategies that Tulsa Public Schools planned to use to reopen in-person classes during the COVID-19 pandemic. While they reviewed physical safety, such as cleaning procedures

and distancing measures, the primary focus was on student social and emotional safety. Tulsa Public has 77 schools, over 33,000 students, and almost 6,000 staff members. Of the 33,000-plus students, 37% were hispanic/Latinx, 23% were Black, 23% were White, 10% were Multiracial, 5% were American Indian, and 2% were Asian/Pacific Islander; with 26% English learners. Approximately 81% of these students were economically disadvantaged.

As the district pursued efforts to improve SEL so that students were safe from a COVID-19 perspective, but also "emotionally and mentally safe," (p. 5) they focused on three things. The first was funding, where they planned to utilize federal funds to support SEL in schools. The second was lengthening their school day in order to maintain academic focus while increasing SEL time. The third was incorporating SEL into "all of Tulsa's work." (p. 5), because as Deputy Superintendent Paula Shannon stated, students "can't have cognitive work happening without a real focus on social and emotional well-being and skills" (p. 5). The reason stated for their shift in focus was pandemic-based, as leadership correlated it with more staff and student concentration on the benefits of SEL and its "healing power" (p. 6). Key strategies planned by the district for implementation included leveraging data collection to analyze effectiveness of their SEL programming, creating wellness teams that focus on non-academic support for students and staff, dedicating time to relationship building, and extending advisory time to build community. Overall, the study highlights how one district realized the importance of SEL to their schools and illustrated specific strategies planned to improve the SEL experience district-wide.

Also examining smaller communities, Chu et al.'s (2021) study assessed two charter schools' approaches to the changes in SEL consideration that the pandemic has brought about, the related obstacles that schools face, and recommended ideas to help manage SEL more efficiently and effectively. Distinctive K-12 Schools have about 12,000 students across nine schools located in Chicago and Detroit. Uplift Education has over 21,000 students in the greater Dallas area. Around 80% of students in both systems qualify for free and reduced lunch. The demographic makeups are approximately 19-32% English language learners, 7-13% receiving special education services, 61-68% Hispanic, 20-26% Black, and 12% white, Asian, or multi-racial.

Chu et al. (2021) noted that Uplift leadership saw a rise in SEL importance when approximately one third of their students surveyed replied positively that they "would like to talk privately with an adult from school about how you're feeling" (p. 4). The CEO of Uplift stated the three most common themes from students in the survey were fear of getting COVID, family or economic stress, and missing friends and teachers. Chu et al. cite a survey of 10,000 students by NBC News that stated 56% of students were "more stressed about school than they were before the pandemic," and stress related to mental health had risen 23% since the beginning of the pandemic (p. 4).

Data from both the schools and additional literature suggested that SEL is a possible approach to managing rising levels of student stress and mental health challenges, and Chu et al. use information from the charter schools to provide recommendations for other schools to emulate. They suggest that schools should have common approaches, such as emotional check-ins or warm greetings, leverage data via

SEL surveys to manage trends and address areas of need, and staff strategically so that students have the resources they need. One such approach deemed effective at Distinctive was that each student had an adult mentor whom they met with for 15 minutes each week to promote connections and community. Chu et al. (2021) summarized the leadership approach to SEL into four common categories: aligning SEL to the schools' values and goals to make SEL a priority, investing in SEL for adults to care for staff and develop them as SEL educators, promoting SEL from within leadership so that SEL is incorporated into decision making discussions and strategies, and incorporating SEL into existing routines in order to "reinforce its' importance and value" (p. 12). Overall, Chu et al. suggests that in order to experience the success that these two schools have had, leadership needs to incorporate common SEL practices school-wide both directly and indirectly, utilize and share data collaboratively to support decision-making, and support clear direction on SEL from the highest leadership.

SEL in After School Programs

Through a more expository lens, Benavides et al.'s (2020) study focused on SEL support in after school programs in a critique of current SEL methods due to a lack of focus on equity. Their study analyzed peer-reviewed articles, policy, research, and educator evaluation reports to correlate SEL, out-of-school time (OST), inclusion, and equity with a goal to better understand effective SEL and equity practices, as well as the intersection of the two, in OST settings. The focus of their research was on OST programs, as they suggested that there is an opportunity to improve and expand SEL time within these programs in order to increase SEL in many students, especially those in the

historically underserved populations of racial minorities and lower income homes.

Benavides et al.'s research suggested SEL improves attendance, grades, and graduation, which could strongly benefit children's futures.

Through their research, they found three common themes: "customization and specificity, standardization and measurement, and equity and trauma-informed practice" (p. 3). First, they suggested that by coordinating with school partners, implementing proper training, maintaining consistency while adapting to change, and aligning SEL to OST program values, SEL programs will be effectively specific. Further, Benavides et al. wrote that "they must have authentic youth development experiences that are facilitated by people who represent their cultural and contextual backgrounds" (Benavides et al., 2020, p. 3), suggesting that educators must share life experience and incorporate cultural differences in order to be successful. Second, they stated that data is limited and therefore difficult to measure, with less than 30% of 273 surveyed programs providing information required for improved decision making (p. 4). Further, they found that few collection tools are specific to OST, suggesting that additional tools need to be created or validated by research. Finally, they suggested that universal SEL may be biased, so OST programs should focus on culture, climate, bias reduction, addressing stereotypes, and staff training to improve accessibility for all students. Overall Benavides et al. suggested that while there is significant potential for SEL in OST programs, it must be aligned with program values, include program and participant specific metrics, and be approached through a lens of equity in order to be successfully implemented.

Challenging SEL

Research Criticism

Overall, Finn suggested that based on the subjectivity of much of the existing SEL data and the multiple external factors influencing this data that SEL is not yet evidence based, and as such, SEL research and schools' eagerness to implement, even in challenging times such as these, should be questioned. Finn (2016) questioned the ability to apply concise metrics to SEL, and therefore its measurable effectiveness, citing the inherent risks with implementing SEL without this information.

His primary claim is that "SEL needs more reliable instruments" (Finn, 2016, p. 2), supporting this by analyzing the subjectivity of SEL metrics. Finn's research showed the primary source of SEL data is based on survey results from educators and students. He cited SEL tools such as GreatSchools that use self-reporting metrics, and questioned factors such as transparency and honesty from students. Finn's research showed that 91% of an average American's life is outside of school, leaving only 9% for time in school. He suggested that of that nine percent, much less is spent on SEL and that this allows for too many variables to definitively show that SEL has a positive effect on students. He stated that external factors, such as cultures, prior experiences, IQ, study habits, economics, ages, passage of time, and even the time that assessments are given are all things that can influence academics and SEL, making it challenging to reliably correlate the two (p. 3). Finn's research showed higher academic scores but lower self-esteem and positivity in Asian students when compared to American students, suggesting that SEL skills and

academics are not necessarily correlated. It also showed many younger Americans had very high self-esteem scores but poor math and English scores, again suggesting no correlation between the two (p. 5).

Similarly, Effrem et al. 's (2019) white paper reviewed SEL research to question the validity of evidence-based effectiveness for SEL supported by SEL leaders, CASEL, and The Aspen Institute. One key finding was a common theme that SEL experts not only had, but acknowledged, was varying definitions of SEL and related skills, which Effrem et al. suggested questions the scope, training, implementation, application, and objectiveness of SEL programs and results. Another key finding were statistics that contradicted Durlak et al.'s (2011) oft-cited research that increased SEL skills correlate to an 11 percent improvement in academic achievement. In Durlak et al.'s (2021) research highlighted that longer term data, noted math, reading, and attention as the strongest predictors of academic achievement, while SEL skills were "generally insignificant" (Effrem et al., 2019, p.20). Another study by Duncan et al. (2007), also included in Durlak et al.'s review showed that most SEL interventions were not evidence-based for validity, and therefore did not provide objective evidence to support the correlation of SEL as an academic predictor.

Effrem et al. also questioned the Aspen Institute's (2020) commonly cited research that used brain scan images to represent the value of SEL skills when problem solving. Researchers noted the software was found to yield false positives, therefore making the over 40,000 studies conducted with it unreliable. Another review found that of the approximately 100 studies The Aspen Institute used to support SEL, only 39 could

be successfully replicated, which Effrem et al. suggested questions their validity. Overall, Effrem et al. (2019) cautioned against the validity of existing SEL data based on varying SEL definitions and contradictory or overly subjective research, suggesting that clearer understanding of SEL programs and their metrics are required before valid conclusions about its effectiveness can be drawn (Effrem, 2019).

Government Criticism

Rather than effectiveness, Greene's (2019) literature review criticized the United States' current approach to SEL in a different way, suggesting that the expanse of federal government regulation has hindered the effectiveness and potential of SEL in public schools. He began by suggesting that the focus on SEL has become more science-based, compared to its moral and religious beginnings. They stated that "there is a nearly one-to-one correspondence between the cardinal virtues and the core SEL competencies as identified by the Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning", (p. 2). The cardinal virtues he referred to were published by Socrates and later adopted into Christian ideals. Greene suggested that core competencies such as conscientiousness and honesty are religious, or at least moral, ideals, and that the data cannot be separated from this foundation.

He also questioned the priority of SEL, stating that a student will not succeed in math if the instruction is poor, regardless of their SEL skills and positive attitude (p. 2). He cited a decline in total school districts from more than 100,000 in 1940 to fewer than 14,000 today as an example of a more centralized government, and with this centralization comes a less-specific direction of values that is further and further removed

from local communities (p. 3). Greene stated that while state and federal governments infer rewards or punishments for standardized testing, there is no such accountability for character education. Overall, Green suggested that by changing the approach to SEL from centrally managed to locally managed, communities will be able to more clearly define SEL concepts in ways that are morally meaningful to them, which in turn will improve character education through SEL.

CHAPTER III: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Summary of Literature

This literature review investigated the impact that the pandemic has had on students' social emotional learning (SEL), including barriers to successful SEL implementation and opportunities to improve SEL. The transition to remote learning and eventual return to school cast a light on how students' social and emotional needs were traditionally met and managed in school, and as school environments changed, so did these needs and educators' varied approaches to addressing them. The pandemic highlighted the importance of SEL and presented new obstacles to student support while encouraging those involved in the education of children to improve its availability and effectiveness.

When the pandemic caused school closings, the educational system was faced with unprecedented challenges that altered its foundation. SEL was a critical area negatively impacted by these changes. The benefits of SEL have been correlated to improved academics, social behavior, citizenship, future well-being, overall student growth, and even the economy (Atwell et al., 2021; Benavides, 2020; Bland et al., 2021; Bond, 2020; Kamei, 2021; Li, 2021; Mahoney, 2019; Rosanbalm, 2021; Schleicher, 2019; Weir, 2020). However, as students transitioned to remote learning, schools scrambled to deliver instruction with limited preparation, planning, and support through the use of new technologies (Bond, 2020; Stacki et al., 2021; Weir, 2020). Along with school closures came reduced engagement, participation, and attendance from students

(Atwell et al., 2021; Huck et al., 2021; Zieher, 2021). Teachers struggled to implement new technology, methods, and routines while they strove to connect with students whose well-being they worried about (Atwell et al., 2021; Ferren, 2021; Hamilton et al., 2021; Huck et al., 2021; Morando-Rhim et al. 2021; Zieher, 2021). Parents expressed concern over not only their children's academics, but their mental health, and rightfully so (Atwell et al., 2021; Egan, 2021; Hamilton et al., 2021; Huck et al., 2021; Morando-Rhim et al., 2021). Students in relative isolation from their teachers and peers showed alarming declines in their mental health, including increased depression, anxiety, stress, and suicidal thoughts (Chu, 2021; DeArmond, 2021; Duckworth, 2021; Egan, 2021; Hamilton et al., 2021; Hill et al., 2020; Hough et al., 2021; Kamei, 2021; Rosanbalm, 2021; Summers, 2020; Wardrip, 2021; Weir, 2020). Basic SEL skills declined in key areas as well, such as time management, self-efficacy, self-motivation, social awareness, and relationship management (Duckworth, 2021; Huck et al., 2021; Santibanez, 2021; Stacki et al., 2021). These changes in students' lives were only compounded by the correlation between social-emotional healthiness and academic success (Duckworth, 2021; Santibanez, 2021), making a logistically challenging academic environment even more harsh.

As educators implemented new teaching methods and recognized the importance of their students' well-being during the crisis, significant barriers to supporting their students were presented. As with all other subjects, technology became a focal point, as inequitable distribution of resources was brought to light through limited hardware and internet access for many (Wardrip, 2021). Though teachers sought to increase their focus

on social emotional aspects and relationships with students to improve their well-being, the availability of SEL programs and access was limited (Huck et al., 2021; Li, 2021). Schools provide the majority of students' mental health care, yet mental health support staff and availability were strained by the increased needs, leaving much of the responsibility to teachers (DeArmond, 2021; Weir, 2020; Zieher, 2021). Unfortunately, the majority of teachers lacked professional development and training on how to implement successful SEL programs for students and often worked in silos on ad hoc solutions (Rosenbalm, 2021; Yoder, 2020; Zieher, 2021). Lack of evidence-based research including objective, measurable, and actionable data, combined with unclear direction and limited funding from leadership, left many teachers to work outside of school hours to find solutions on their own, despite SEL being a pandemic priority for the majority of school leaders (Benavides, 2020; DeArmond, 2021; Rosenbalm, 2021; Weir, 2020; Yoder, 2020; Zieher, 2021). This increased responsibility added to the already rising stress levels of teachers in the pandemic, who further questioned their ability to successfully support their students and even their desire to continue teaching, without significant and explicit support from their schools for their own well-being (DeArmond, 2021; Zieher, 2021).

Despite the many obstacles, researchers have provided guidance and recommendations to improve social emotional learning at a time when it is needed more than ever. Schools can integrate SEL into their academic classes (Wardrip, 2021; Weir, 2020) or use one of several proven SEL programs such as *Adventures* or the CASEL SEL Framework (Hough et al., 2021; Li et al., 2021). As technology adaptation improves,

educators can implement SEL skill tools, virtual real-world problem sharing, digital progress trackers, and calming tools to increase SEL access (Hamilton et al., 2021; Kamei, 2021; Rosanbalm, 2021). To address Finn Jr. (2019) and Effrem et al.'s (2019) concerns about limited or subjective data on the effectiveness of SEL, improved data gathering and monitoring tools should be utilized in order to provide more focused and strategic information for schools. In response to Greene's concerns that SEL is lacking local direction and moral alignment, communication from the community to policymakers should be improved in order to provide increased definition and guidance (Aspen Institute, 2020; Ferren, 2021; Hamilton et al., 2021; Hill et al., 2021; Mahoney, 2019; Stacki, 2021). This would simultaneously facilitate improved districtwide direction and training, while providing a stronger case for staffing changes, increased teacher support, and funding (Aspen Institute, 2020; Benavides, 2020; Bland et al., 2021; Chu et al., 2021; Ferren, 2021; Hill et al., 2020; Mahoney, 2019; Rosanbalm, 2021; Schleicher, 2019; Stacki et al., 2021; Summers, 2020; Weir, 2020).

Limitations of the Research

Schools around the world closed due to the pandemic in March of 2020, and although they have been reopened, COVID-19 still looms as a threat for further disruption. This research was conducted about two years after initial closures, and as such, robust data on the impact that the pandemic has had on social emotional learning remains limited in the short term while long-term studies are non-existent. More quantifiable and evidence-based short-term research would have been beneficial to better understand the impacts, and long-term research would show how these impacts evolve

over time. Though social emotional learning is not a new concept, data collection and tracking remains largely subjective. Additional objective research would help further substantiate both the short- and long-term benefits of SEL.

The United States, in particular, was faced with what many referred to as a "dual pandemic"; as COVID-19 swept the nation, so did a tumultuous period of racial tension and significant civil rights tragedies, as high profile police brutality cases such as the death of George Floyd in Minnesota shook the foundation of equal rights. This caused many researchers to simultaneously investigate racial inequities in the educational system along with social, emotional, and mental health. The research in this paper was narrowed in scope to exclude the focus of racial inequity and the impact on underserved populations, although some overlaps in affected historically underrepresented populations were present in technological access and remote learning impact. Each of these factors limited the quantity and quality of research available to answer the primary research questions at the time of writing.

Implications for Future Research

Due to the relatively recent events that were the catalysts for the research, limited research was available in several key areas. First, short-term studies should continue to be conducted, with improved universal metrics and more specific demographic information. Much of the existing research was anecdotal and survey based, and although it was cross-referenced with hard data such as attendance and test scores, the research needs additional grounding in objective measurements. Future research should be founded in long-term studies of evidence-based SEL programs tracked in detail to identify additional

correlations to their impact on student growth and performance. Obtaining more information on specific demographics will facilitate more in depth understanding of how distinct populations were affected. For example, there is little evidence on the social emotional impact on students with disabilities, who often have increased social emotional needs and learning objectives. Finally, long-term studies should continue to be developed and reviewed against new and existing short-term studies to obtain a more comprehensive view of the true impact that COVID-19 has had on social emotional learning in students. The pandemic had not ceased at the time of writing, so the existing data painted only a partial picture of early impacts. Without having more detailed information, it is difficult for educators, administrators, and policymakers to be strategically prescriptive in their social emotional support for students.

Implications for Professional Application

Educators were caught flat footed by the pandemic, at an extreme disservice to both themselves and their students. Research has shown that social emotional learning can greatly benefit students' mental health, academics, and future. Combined with the social emotional climate brought about by the pandemic, these benefits are much needed. To improve SEL, educators need to responsibly research, communicate, advocate, and implement the necessary changes. Additional research is needed to solidify stronger cases to enact more robust, adaptable, and proven SEL in schools. Educators could participate in research, conduct their own research, and continue independent research to contribute to these improvements. A better understanding of SEL could also lead to stronger school communities that provide more support for educators themselves. Advocating for this

priority in schools will help keep teachers a part of necessary conversations about change and direction, and enable school leaders and policymakers to make more informed and strategic decisions about improving SEL.

However, educators do not need to wait for these decisions to be made. They have an opportunity to continue to be pioneers of change in their communities. Teachers can use existing, proven SEL tools to continue to support their renewed focus on improving the mental well-being of students. They can adapt their teaching approach to include both direct SEL instruction through these programs and indirect SEL instruction by integrating social emotional concepts into their existing curricula, knowing that research has shown it will also benefit their students academically. In order to be effective, teachers must be properly trained in SEL. This requires a commitment to professional development, whether led by schools or teachers as independent thought leaders, which will require additional work and effort from teachers as they shuffle priorities or make sacrifices and expand work hours to invest in SEL.

Finally, as teachers expand their responsibilities, they must also take care to manage their own well-being. The pandemic negatively impacted a teaching force that already felt strained and questioned their own value and effectiveness. In order to mitigate these negative impacts, teachers should explore SEL as both a personal tool and one to be used with their peers. Acknowledging and addressing the struggles that teachers have continuously faced, which have only been exacerbated by the pandemic, is vital to the continued effectiveness of their teaching.

The pandemic has brought unprecedented changes and stressors to educational systems worldwide. At the front line throughout have been educators, whose experiences must be learned from and whose voices must be heard. Educators have a responsibility to support their students to the best of their ability, and by making these changes, they can not only improve current student support, but prepare for future turmoil in hopes that it will be better managed in the future.

Conclusion

How has the pandemic impacted social emotional learning in students, and what can educational systems do to better support them? Overall, the research showed that students' social emotional needs have been negatively impacted by the pandemic, as mental health declined through factors such as increased anxiety and depression (Chu, 2021; DeArmond, 2021; Duckworth, 2021; Egan, 2021; Hamilton, 2021; Hill et al., 2020; Hough et al., 2021; Kamei, 2021; Rosanbalm, 2021; Summers, 2020; Wardrip, 2021; Weir, 2020). SEL programs have been shown to mitigate negative mental health impacts and support student growth towards effectively social and productive citizens (Atwell et al., 2021; Benavides, 2020; Bland et al., 2021; Bond, 2020; Kamei, 2021; Li, 2021; Mahoney, 2019; Rosanbalm, 2021; Schleicher, 2019; Weir, 2020). Though there will be challenges along the way, schools have a path to making significant and valuable changes to SEL programming that will benefit the students and communities of the future.

References

- Aspen Institute. (2020). State actions to support social, emotional, and academic development: Fostering connectedness in the pandemic era. Aspen Institute. https://www.aspeninstitute.org/publications/policy-recommendations-to-support-soc ial-emotional-and-academic-development-fostering-connectedness-in-the-pandemic -era/
- Atwell, M. N., Bridgeland, J. M., & Manspile, E. P. (2021). Ready to engage:

 Perspectives of teachers and parents on social and emotional learning and

 service-learning in America's public schools. Civic.

 https://www.civicllc.com/_files/ugd/03cac8_9d7e59eee72f4e22bd59a9df5754814f.

 pdf
- Benavides, V., Meghjee, S., Johnson, T., Joshi, A., Ortiz, C., & Rivera, V. (2020, Fall).

 Social and emotional learning in afterschool settings: Equity evaluations, recommendations, and critiques. *Afterschool Matters*, *33*(3), 1–8.

 https://www.niost.org/Afterschool-Matters-Fall-2020/social-and-emotional-learning-in-afterschool-settings
- Bland, J. A., Edgerton, A. K., O'Neal, D., & Ondrasek, N. (2021, August 18). *Tulsa public schools: Prioritizing physical, social, and emotional safety to support reopening and recovery. Research brief. School reopening series.* Learning Policy Institute.

https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/safe-school-reopening-tulsa-brief Bond, J. B. (2020). Social-emotional learning in a time of chaos. *International Dialogues*

- on Education: Past and Present, 7(1), 87–92. https://doi.org/10.53308/ide.v7i1/2.28
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022a, January 24). *About COVID-19*.

 Retrieved from
 - https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/your-health/about-covid-19.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022b, August 16). *CDC museum COVID-19 timeline*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/museum/timeline/covid19.html#:~:text=March%2011%2C%2 02020,declares%20COVID%2D19%20a%20pandemic.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022c, November 16). *Learn about*children's mental health. Retrieved from

 https://www.cdc.gov/childrensmentalhealth/index.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022d, October 21). What exactly is a pandemic? CDC Science Ambassador. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/scienceambassador/documents/module-1-defining-a-pandemic -lesson-plan.pdf
- Chu, L., & DeArmond, M. (2021, August) Approaching SEL as a whole-school effort, not an add-on: Lessons from two charter networks. Center on Reinventing Public Education.
 - https://crpe.org/approaching-sel-as-a-whole-school-effort-not-an-add-on-lessons-fro m-two-charter-networks/
- DeArmond, M., & Chu, L. (2021, February). How are school districts addressing student social-emotional needs during the pandemic? Center on Reinventing Public

Education.

- https://crpe.org/how-are-school-districts-addressing-student-social-emotional-needs -during-the-pandemic/
- Duckworth, A. L., Kautz, T., Defnet, A., Satlof-Bedrick, E., Talamas, S., Lira, B., & Steinberg, L. (2021). Students attending school remotely suffer socially, emotionally, and academically. *Educational Researcher*, *50*(7), 479–482. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X211031551
- Effrem, K., & Robbins, J. (2019, March 1). *Social-emotional learning: K-12 education as new age nanny state.* [White Paper No. 192.] Pioneer Institute for Public Policy Research.
 - https://pioneerinstitute.org/pioneer-research/academic-standards-pioneer-research/s ocial-emotional-learning-k-12-education-as-new-age-nanny-state/
- Egan, S. M., Pope, J., Moloney, M., Hoyne, C., & Beatty, C. (2021, April 27). Missing early education and care during the pandemic: The socio-emotional impact of the COVID-19 crisis on young children. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 49(5), 925–934. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-021-01193-2
- Ferren, M. (2021, July 20). Social and emotional supports for educators during and after the pandemic. Center for American Progress.

 https://www.americanprogress.org/article/social-emotional-supports-educators-pand emic/
- Finn, C. E. (2019, October 16) *Don't oversell SEL*. The Thomas B. Fordham Institute. https://fordhaminstitute.org/national/commentary/dont-oversell-sel.

- Greene, J. P. (2019, June 25). *The moral and religious roots of social and emotional learning*. American Enterprise Institute.
 - https://www.aei.org/research-products/report/the-moral-and-religious-roots-of-social-and-emotional-learning/
- Hamilton, L., & Gross, B. (2021, August). How has the pandemic affected students' social-emotional well-being? A review of the evidence to date. Center on Reinventing Public Education.
 - https://crpe.org/how-has-the-pandemic-affected-students-social-emotional-well-bei ng-a-review-of-the-evidence-to-date/
- Hill, C., Rosehart, P., St. Helene, J., & Sadhra, S. (2020). What kind of educator does the world need today? Reimagining teacher education in post-pandemic Canada.
 Journal of Education for Teaching: International Research and Pedagogy, 46(4), 565–575. https://doi.org/10.1080/02607476.2020.1797439
- Hough, H., Witte, J., Wang, C., & Calhoun, D. (2021, February). Evidence-based practices for assessing students' social and emotional well-being (Issue Brief No. 13). EdResearch for Recovery Project.
 https://edpolicyinca.org/publications/evidence-based-practices-assessing-students-social-and-emotional-well-being
- Huck, C., & Zhang, J. (2021, Summer). Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on K-12 education: A systematic literature review. *New Waves Educational Research and Development Journal*, 24(1), 53–84.
 https://www.viethconsulting.com/members/publication/new waves archive.php

- Kamei, A., & Harriott, W. (2021, March 9). Social emotional learning in virtual settings: Intervention strategies. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 13(3), 365–371. https://www.iejee.com/index.php/IEJEE/article/view/1487
- Li, L, Flynn, K., DeRosier, M., Weiser, G., & Austin-King, K. (2021). Social-emotional learning amidst COVID-19 school closures: Positive findings from an efficacy study of *Adventures Aboard the S.S. GRIN* program. *Front. Educ.* 6:683142. Doi: 10.3389/feduc.2021.683142.
- Mahoney, J. L., Durlak, J. A., & Weissberg, R. P. (2018, November 26). An update on social and emotional learning outcome research. *Phi Delta Kappan*, *100*(4), 18–23. https://kappanonline.org/social-emotional-learning-outcome-research-mahoney-durlak-weissberg/
- Minnesota Department of Education. (2022a). Academic achievement. Retrieved from https://education.mn.gov/mdeprod/groups/communications/documents/basic/bwrl/mdcz/~edisp/mde073110.pdf
- Minnesota Department of Education. (2022b). Academic standards (K-12). Retrieved from
 - $https://education.mn.gov/mde/dse/stds/\#: \sim : text = Curriculum \% 20 is \% 20 the \% 20 resources \% 20 and, present \% 20 the \% 20 content \% 20 to \% 20 students.$
- Minnesota Department of Education. (2022c). Special education. Retrieved from https://education.mn.gov/MDE/fam/sped/
- Morando-Rhim, L., & Ekin, S.. (2021, August). How has the pandemic affected students with disabilities? A review of the evidence to date. Center on Reinventing Public

Education.

https://crpe.org/how-has-the-pandemic-affected-students-with-disabilities-a-review-of-the-evidence-to-date/

- Rosanbalm, K. (2021, February). Social and emotional learning during COVID-19 and beyond: Why it matters and how to support it. Hunt Institute.

 https://hunt-institute.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/HI-Duke-Brief-SEL-Learning-During-COVID-19-Rosanbalm.pdf
- Santibañez, L., & Guarino, C. M. (2021, October). The effects of absenteeism on academic and social-emotional outcomes: Lessons for COVID-19. *Educational Researcher*, *50*(6), 392–400.

 https://edpolicyinca.org/publications/effects-absenteeism-academic-and-social-emot
 - https://edpolicyinca.org/publications/effects-absenteeism-academic-and-social-emotional-outcomes
- Schleicher, A., Adler, A., Sahlgren, G.H., Wiking, M., & Brackett, M. (2019). *Emotion and cognition in the age of AI* [White paper]. The Economist Intelligence Unit Limited.
 - $https://nova-escola-producao.s3.amazonaws.com/CXmETedzxNg6FzbZDTBSHHc\\ hmxqfJf2Un6EF9c9ZzNM3nma8GSx7F7usE7kG/2019-mar-14-emotion-cognition-in-the-age-of-ai-research-reports.pdf$
- Stacki, S. L., Bay, Z., FlynnDavis, A., & Hermann, J. (2021). Twenty-first century middle schooling in New York: Teachers share experiences and perspectives on remote teaching and learning early in the global pandemic. *Excelsior: Leadership in Teaching and Learning*, *13*(2), 143–159.

- https://doi.org/10.14305/jn.19440413.2021.13.2.05
- Summers, L. L. (2020, August). The right blend: SEL skills support teacher learning in person and online. *Learning Professional*, *41*(4),

 32–36.https://bettereducate.com/uploads/file/47595_therightblendpdf_therightblend
 .pdf
- Wardrip, P. S., Saplan, K., & Evancho, J. (2021). "Finding the right window into what they're doing": Assessment of maker-based learning experiences remotely.

 *TechTrends: Linking Research and Practice to Improve Learning, 65(6), 952–962.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-021-00664-y
- Weir, Kirsten. (2020, September 1). Safeguarding student mental health. *Monitor on Psychology, American Psychological Association*. *51*(6). 46-49. https://www.apa.org/monitor/2020/09/safeguarding-mental-health
- Yoder, N., Posamentier, J., Godek, D., Seibel, K., & Dusenbury, L. (2020). From response to reopening: State efforts to elevate social and emotional learning during the pandemic. Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning. https://casel.org/state-efforts-elevate-social-emotional-learning-during-pandemic/
- Zieher, A. K., Cipriano, C., Meyer, J. L., & Strambler, M. J. (2021). Educators' implementation and use of social and emotional learning early in the COVID-19 pandemic. *School Psychology*, *36*(5), 388–397. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000461